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NO. C-7273-14-D

STATE OF TEXAS, IN THE DISTRICT COURT

Plaintiff

V.
HIDALGO COUNTY, TEXAS
DENNIS GOMEZ, INDIVIDUALLY AND
DBA FLAMINGO POOLS, RGV
FLAMINGO POOLS INTERNATIONAL,
LTD. DBA FLAMINGO POOLS, and
RGV POOL SHARKS, LLC

Defendants

L L LD L L L L M L LT L

JUDICIAL DISTRICT

PLAINTIFF'S ORIGINAL PETITION, APPLICATION FOR EX PARTE TEMPORARY
RESTRAINING ORDER WITH ASSET FREEZE, AND APPLICATION FOR
TEMPORARY AND PERMANENT INJUNCTIONS

TO THE HONORABLE COURT:

THE STATE OF TEXAS (“the State”), acting by and through its Attorney General,
GREG ABBOTT files this Original Petition for Civil Penalties and Application for Temporary
and Permanent Injunction, complaining of DENNIS GOMEZ INDIVIDUALLY AND DBA
FLAMINGO POOLS (hereinafter “GOMEZ”), RGV FLAMINGO POOLS INTERNATIONAL,
LTD. D/B/A FLAMINGO POOLS (hereinafter “Flamingo Pools™) and RGV POOL SHARKS,

LLC (hereinafter “Pool Sharks”™), Defendants, and for cause of action would respectfully show:

DISCOVERY CONTROL PLAN
1. The discovery in this case is intended to be conducted under Level 2 pursuant to TEX. R.
Civ.P. 190.2(b)(3).
2. This case is not subject to the restrictions of expedited discovery under Tex. R. Civ . P. 169

because;

a. The relief sought by the State includes monetary and injunctive relief.



Electronically Filed
9/5/2014 11:25:46 AM
Hidalgo County District Clerks

C-7273-14-D Reviewed By: Priscilla Rivas

NATURE OF SUIT

3.  The Attorney General, acting within the scope of his official duties under the authority
granted to him under the Constitution and the laws of the State of Texas, brings this lawsuit
in the name of the State of Texas through his Consumer Protection Division against
Defendants for violations of the Texas Deceptive Trade Practices - Consumer Protection
Act, TEX. BUS. & CoM. CODE ANN. § 17.41, et seq. (“DTPA”). The DTPA grants authority
to the Attorney General to seek injunctive relief and civil penalties for violations of its
provisions. TEX. Bus. & CoM. CODE ANN. §17.47.

DEFENDANTS

4. Defendant, Dennis Gomez (hereinafter “Gomez”), is an individual residing and conducting
business in Hidalgo County, Texas. He may be served with process at 721 W. Dove,
McAllen, Texas 78504, his residence, 2013 Hibiscus Ave., McAllen, Texas 78501 or
wherever he may be found.

5. Defendant, RGV FLAMINGO POOLS INTERNATIONAL, LTD. D/B/A FLAMINGO
POOLS, is a Texas corporation authorized to do business in Texas and may be served with
process by serving its Registered Agent, Dennis James Gomez, at 721 W. Dove, McAllen,
Texas 78504.

6.  Defendant, RGV POOL SHARKS, LLC (hereinafter “Pool Sharks™), is a Texas
corporation authorized to do business in Texas and may be served with process by serving
its Registered Agent, Dennis James Gomez, at 721 W. Dove, McAllen, Texas 78504.

JURISDICTION

7. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 17.47(b) of the DTPA.

State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al,
Original Petition
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VENUE
8.  Venue of this suit is proper Hidalgo County under § 15.002(a)(1) of the TEXAS CIVIL
PRACTICE AND REMEDIES CODE.
PURPOSE OF SUIT
9. The State is seeking civil penalties, attorney’s fees, and injunctive relief from the
Defendants for misrepresenting the services being offered in violation of the Deceptive
Trade Practice Act.
PUBLIC INTEREST
10. The State has reason to believe that Defendants are engaging in, has engaged in, or is about
to engage in, the unlawful acts or practices set forth below, that Defendants have, by means
of these unlawful acts and practices, caused damage to or acquired money or property from
persons, and that Defendants adversely affects the lawful conduct of trade and commerce,
thereby directly or indirectly affecting the people of this State. Therefore, the Consumer
Protection Division of the Office of the Attorney General of the State of Texas has
determined that these proceedings are in the public interest.
TRADE AND COMMERCE
11. Defendants have, at all times described below, engaged in conduct which constitutes
“trade” and “commerce,” as those terms are defined by section 17.45(6) of the DTPA.
ACTS OF AGENTS
12.  Whenever in this petition it is alleged that Defendants did any act, it is meant that

Defendants performed or participated in the act, or that the officers, agents or employees of

State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al,
Original Petition
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Defendants performed or participated in the act on behalf of and under the authority of

Defendants.

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
NOTICE BEFORE SUIT NOT GIVEN

13. All conditions precedent to Plaintiff’s claim for relief have been performed or have
occurred.

14. Pursuant to §17.47(a) of the DTPA, contact has not been made with the Defendants herein
to inform Defendants of the unlawful conduct alleged herein, for the reason that the
Consumer Protection Division is of the opinion that there is good cause to believe that
Defendants would evade service of process or would destroy relevant records if prior
contact were made.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

15. Flamingo Pools is a pool construction company offering to build pools for consumers in
South Texas.

16. They advertise in print media, on the internet and home and trade shows.

17.  On January 31, 2013, Defendants entered into a written contract with Consumer A to build
a pool, pergola, bar, and restroom (the “Pool Project™) for the total price of $36,600.

a. By June 4, 2013, Consumer A had paid Flamingo Pools twice the agreed contract
price for changes and additions.

b. On or about June 12, 2013, Consumer A entered into a second contract with
Flamingo Pools wherein Flamingo Pools agreed to complete the Pool Project within
two weeks. Flamingo Pools defaulted on the second contract and failed to
communicate with Consumer A and eventually abandoned the project in August of

2013.

State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al.
Original Petition
Page 4 of 15



Electronically Filed
9/5/2014 11:25:46 AM
Hidalgo County District Clerks

C-7273-14-D Reviewed By: Priscilla Rivas

c.  Consumer A paid Flamingo Pools a total of $78,573.00 for the unfinished Pool
Project. Consumer A was forced to hire a second contractor to complete the
unfinished project.

d.  Flamingo Pools offers a 100-day completion assurance in their advertisement
brochure that induced Consumer A to contract with Flamingo Pools.

18. On August 23, 2013, Flamingo Pools entered into a written contract with Consumer B to
build a pool for a total of $23,300.

a.  On or about August 23, 2013, Consumer B paid Flamingo Pools a down payment of
$11,650 to begin the construction of the pool. Consumer B financed the remaining
balance of $11,650 with Flamingo Pools through their in-house financing payment
method.

b.  Gomez promised to Consumer B that the pool would be completed within six weeks
from the time of signing the contract.

¢.  Consumer B selected in their agreement that the pool would have a “lagoon” shape.
However, Flamingo Pools constructed a “kidney-shaped” pool.

d.  On or about May 23, 2014, Flamingo Pools sent Consumer B an invoice informing
them that they are three months behind in their payments. Consumer B informed
Flamingo Pools that they were nine months behind in the construction of the pool.

e. On or about June 4, 2014, Consumer B sent a demand letter to Gomez and
Flamingo Pools giving them a deadline to complete the pool.

19. On April 2, 2012, Flamingo Pools entered into a written agreement with Consumer C to

build a pool for the total amount of $24,700.

State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al.
Original Petition
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a.  Consumer C paid Flamingo Pools $13,000 as a down payment and financed the
remaining balance with Flamingo Pool’s in-house financing.

b. A week after Consumer C entered into an agreement with Flamingo Pools, they dug
a hole for the pool at Consumer C’s residence.

c.  Approximately a month later, Flamingo Pools returned to the residence to rebar and
cement the pool. Consumer C found out later, through another pool company, that
the pool was not properly cemented.

d.  On or about June or July, Consumer C met with Gomez and Gomez promised that
the pool would be completed. Consumer C never heard back from Gomez after that
encounter and the pool stayed uncompleted until November 2012.

e. In November 2012, Consumer C hired another contractor to finish the pool at a
price of $18,000.

20. Consumers repeatedly complained that after receipt of the down payment, which consisted
of one-half of the total project, Defendants would begin the construction of the pool by
digging the hole where the pool would eventually go. Consumers report that after the
digging of the hole, months would go by before they saw any other activity. The empty
hole posed a health and safety risk to the consumers.

21. Defendants took on average nine months to complete a pool despite oral representations to
the consumer, made with the purpose of inducing the consumer to sign the contract, that it
would be completed in three or four months.

22. Defendants took money from consumers but rather than build the consumer their pool, they
used that money to complete other projects and pools. On occasion, checks given to

Gomez were cashed rather than deposited in a financial institution.

State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al,
Original Petition
Page 6 of 15



Electronically Filed
9/5/2014 11:25:46 AM
Hidalgo County District Clerks

C-7273-14-D Reviewed By: Priscilla Rivas

23.  After Consumers paid their down payment, monthly payments began the following month
on the remaining balance despite there being no activity on the project. If a consumer
stopped paying, Defendants were known to remove equipment, such as the pump, and use
it on other projects.

24. Defendant Gomez is the sole owner of Defendants RGV Flamingo Pools International,
LTD. and RGV Pool Sharks, LLC.

25. Defendant Gomez disregarded the corporate identity of the two companies and comingled
funds or used funds from one company to pay for expenses of the other. Gomez also paid
personal expense from both companies.

DTPA VIOLATIONS

26. Defendants, as alleged above, has in the course of trade and commerce engaged in false,
misleading and deceptive acts and practices declared unlawful in §§ 17.46(a) and (b) of the
DTPA as follows:

a. By using deceptive and misleading representations to induce consumers into
entering into a swimming pool construction agreement, in violation of section
17.46(a);

b. By representing that its services have uses and benefits which they do not have, in
violation of section 17.46(b)(5);

c. By representing that good are original or new if they are deteriorated,
reconditioned, reclaimed, used, or secondhand in violation of section 17.46(b)(6);

d. By representing that its services are of a particular standard, quality, or grade when

they are of another, in violation of section 17.46(b)(7);

State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al.
Original Petition
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e. By advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised in
violation of section 17.46(b)(9); and

f. By failing to disclose information concerning the swimming pool agreement, when
such failure to disclose was intended to induce the consumers into entering the
agreement, a transaction into which the consumers would not have entered had the

information been disclosed, in violation of section 17.46(b)(24).

INJURY TO CONSUMERS
27. Defendants have, by means of the unlawful act(s) or practice(s) alleged, caused actual
damages to identifiable persons who should be compensated for such damages, or in the
alternative, acquired money or property from persons to whom such money or property
should be restored.
28. Because Defendants have engaged in the unlawful acts and practices described above,
Defendants have violated the law as alleged in this petition, or will continue to violate the

law, and should be restrained by this Honorable Court.

APPLICATION FOR EX PARTE TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER
29. The State incorporates and adopts by reference the allegations contained in each and every
preceding paragraph of this petition.
30. The State alleges that by reason of the foregoing, Defendants should be Ordered to refrain
from or take certain actions as follows:
a.  Defendants shall insist that all payments to Defendants be by check, money order or
credit card and if by check that it be made payable to Flamingo Pools or Pool
Sharks only;
State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al.

Original Petition
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Defendants shall give a receipt for all payments received from consumers;
Defendants shall deposit all payments received from consumers into an account at a
financial institution that is in the name of Defendants Flamingo Pools or Pool
Sharks;

Defendants shall not use funds collected from one consumer to pay for expenses
associated with the construction of a pool for another consumer;

Defendants shall not cash any checks given to them as payment on a pool;
Defendants shall obtain all necessary permits and inspections for each pool
constructed and shall make available to the Attorney General upon request;
Defendants shall abide by all laws in the state of Texas and ordinances of the city
where a pool may be built in reference to construction of pools;

Defendants shall not remove equipment, such as a pump or filter, at a pool site and
install it at another;

Defendants shall only contract with licensed electrical and plumbing contractors;
Defendants shall state in each contract the actual amount of time the pool project
will take to be completed;

Defendants shall complete building projects within the time stated in each pool
construction contract;

Defendants shall not enter into any contractual agreement that cannot be completed
within the time period stated in the contract;

Defendants shall maintain reasonable communication with all clients;

Defendants shall not use the funds of another entity towards the expenditures of

another;

State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al.
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0. Defendant Gomez shall not pay for personal expenditures with corporate funds,
from either corporation;

p.  Defendants shall maintain proper book keeping practices;

q.  Defendants shall pay for all expenditures by check made payable to the individual
or entity providing such service, product or material and maintain an invoice or
purchase order for each expense;

r.  Defendants shall pay for all labor, i.e. employees, contractors, subcontractors, by
check made payable to the individual or entity providing such labor;

s.  Defendants shall not withdraw funds by use of a check made payable to “Cash,”
“Petty Cash,” or in the name of a bank for purposes of obtaining cash; and

t.  Defendants shall not make any money “wire transfers” to another financial

institution, domestic and or foreign.

Unless immediately restrained by this Honorable Court, the Defendants will continue to
violate the laws of the State of Texas and cause immediate, irreparable injury, loss and
damages to the State of Texas and to the general public.

The interests of the State of Texas and the public require immediate action to keep
Defendants from continuing to operate as they currently are.

Further, unless injunctive relief is granted, Defendants will continue to collect monies from
consumers by use of false, misleading or deceptive trade practices. Therefore, the State
requests an Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order, Temporary Injunction and Permanent
Injunction, as indicated below.

The State is requesting that the Temporary Restraining Order be granted on an ex parte

basis because if provided notice, Defendants may continue to contract with consumers

State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al.
Original Petition
Page 10 of 15



Electronically Filed
9/5/2014 11:25:46 AM
Hidalgo County District Clerks

35.

36.

37.

38.

C-7273-14-D Reviewed By: Priscilla Rivas

without giving them notice that their funds may not be used to build their pool and that they
project will take much longer than they were promised and may result in irreparable injury,
loss or damages to consumers.

In addition to restraining Defendants’ conduct to prevent future illegal acts and continuing
harm to consumers, State requests immediate relief to preserve and protect monies that
have been paid to Defendants. In light of the seriousness of the illegal conduct described
herein, Defendants is likely to waste or secrete funds prior to final trial to avoid repaying
the funds to the State and consumers.

For these reasons, the assets of Defendants are subject to dissipation and secretion and
therefore should be frozen pending final trial so that restitution can be made and full and
final relief can be awarded at final trial.

State requests that the Court exercise its authority under the DTPA and grant the injunctive
relief necessary to prevent additional harm to the Defendants victims as well as further

violations of the DTPA as alleged and detailed above.

REQUEST FOR DISCLOSURE
Under Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 194, Plaintiff requests that Defendants disclose,

within 50 days of the service of this request, the information or material described in Rule

194.2.

State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al,
Original Petition
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PRAYER

39. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that Defendants be cited according to law to appear and

answer herein; that after due notice and hearing a TEMPORARY INJUNCTION be issued;

and upon trial of this cause a PERMANENT INJUNCTION be issued, ordering and

compelling Defendants, its officers, agents, servants, employees and attorneys and any

other person in active concert or participation with Defendants to do the following:

a.

Defendants shall insist that all payments to Defendants be by check, money order or
credit card and if by check that it be made payable to Flamingo Pools or Pool
Sharks only;

Defendants shall give a receipt for all payments received from consumers;
Defendants shall deposit all payments received from consumers into an account at a
financial institution that is in the name of Defendants Flamingo Pools or Pool
Sharks;

Defendants shall not use funds collected from one consumer to pay for expenses
associated with the construction of a pool for another consumer;

Defendants shall not cash any checks given to them as payment on a pool;
Defendants shall obtain all necessary permits and inspections for each pool
constructed and shall make available to the Attorney General upon request;
Defendants shall abide by all laws in the state of Texas and ordinances of the city

where a pool may be built in reference to construction of pools;

State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al.

Original Petition
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Defendants shall not remove equipment, such as a pump or filter, at a pool site and
install it at another;

Defendants shall only contract with licensed electrical and plumbing contractors;
Defendants shall state in each contract the actual amount of time the pool project
will take to be completed;

Defendants shall complete building projects within the time stated in each pool
construction contract;

Defendants shall not enter into any contractual agreement that cannot be completed
within the time period stated in the contract;

Defendants shall maintain reasonable communication with all clients;

Defendants shall not use the funds of another entity towards the expenditures of
another;

Defendant Gomez shall not pay for personal expenditures with corporate funds,
from either corporation;

Defendants shall maintain proper book keeping practices;

Defendants shall pay for all expenditures by check made payable to the individual
or entity providing such service, product or material and maintain a purchase order
or invoice for each expense;

Defendants shall pay for all labor, i.e. employees, contractors, subcontractors, by
check made payable to the individual or entity providing such labor;

Defendants shall not withdraw funds by use of a check made payable to “Cash,”

“Petty Cash,” or in the name of a bank for purposes of obtaining cash; and

State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al.

Original Petition
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Defendants shall not make any money “wire transfers” to another financial

institution, domestic and or foreign.

40. Plaintiff STATE OF TEXAS further prays that this Court will:

a.

Adjudge against Defendants civil penalties in favor of Plaintiff STATE OF
TEXAS, in the amount not to exceed more than $20,000.00 per violation of the
DTPA;

Adjudge against Defendants civil penalties in favor of Plaintiff STATE OF
TEXAS, in the amount of not more than $250,000.00 for violations of the DTPA if
the consumer was 65 years of age or older;

Order Defendants to pay Plaintiff STATE OF TEXAS reasonable attorney’s fees
and court costs pursuant to TEX. GOVT. CODE ANN. 402.006;

Adjudge against Defendants pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the highest
lawful rate; and

Adjudge that all fines, penalties or forfeitures payable to and for the benefit of the

State are not dischargeable under bankruptcy pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §523(a)(7).

41. Further, Plaintiff STATE OF TEXAS respectfully prays for all other relief to which

Plaintiff STATE OF TEXAS may be justly entitled.

Respectfully submitted,

GREG ABBOTT
Attorney General of Texas

DANIEL T. HODGE
First Assistant Attorney General

JOHN SCOTT
Deputy Attorney General for

State of Texas v. Dennis Gomez, et. al.
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Civil Litigation

TOMMY PRUD’HOMME
Chief, Consumer Protect}gn Division

7 g

Z

JOE'D. GARCIA
State Bar No. 00785896

MICHAEL AGUIRRE

State Bar No. 24038593

Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Consumer Protection Division

3201 N. McColl, Suite B

McAllen, Texas 78501

(956) 682-4547; Fax (956) 682-1957

Joe.garcia@texasattorneygeneral.gov
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VERIFICATION
STATE OF TEXAS §
COUNTY OF HIDALGO  §

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared affiant
Rozanne N. Lopez, who proved to me through current Texas Driver License to be the person
whose name is subscribed to this Verification and who acknowledged to me that she executed
the same, and after she was duly sworn, upon her oath, she deposed and said that the affiant is an
investigator for the Office of Attorney General, and is authorized to make this affidavit, that the
affiant has carefully read the “Specific Factual Allegations” in the foregoing PLAINTIFF'S
ORIGINAL PETITION, APPLICATION FOR EX PARTE TEMPORARY RESTRAINING
ORDER WITH ASSET FREEZE, AND APPLICATION FOR TEMPORARY AND
PERMANENT INJUNCTIONS, and has reason to believe that each and all said “Specific
Factual Allegations” are true and correct; and affiant signs this Verification, pursuant to Rule

682 of the TEXAS RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

2\ VANESSA CUELLAR
Notary Public el pd LY ] ST
STATE OF TEXAS NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND

o /' Commission Exp. MARCH 02, 2017 THE STATE OF TEXAS
Netary without Bond -




